IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIAUN 20 2016

	Frank A. McGuire Clerk
	Deputy
) No.: S233508
	No.: D067920
In re KRISTOPHER KIRCHNER on Habeas Corpus	Super. Ct. Nos. HC21804, CRN26291)

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

From the Court of Appeal,
Fourth District Division One,
Reversing the Trial Court's Grant of Petitioner's Habeas Corpus
Petition

--ooOOoo--

RANDY MIZE, Chief Deputy Office of the Primary Public Defender County of San Diego ABBEY J. NOEL State Bar #239258 Deputy Public Defenders 450 "B" Street, Suite 900 San Diego, California 92101 Telephone: (619) 338-4623

Attorneys for Petitioner KRISTOPHER KIRCHNER

ISSUES PRESENTED

Is California Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) an adequate remedy at law for a juvenile sentence of life without parole which has been found to be unconstitutional and illegal by the holding in *Miller v. Alabama* (2012) 567 U.S. ___ [132 S.Ct. 2455] (*Miller*)? Does the holding in *In re Kirchner* (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 1398 fail to follow this Court's holding in *People v. Gutierrez* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 354 (*Gutierrez*) and result in continued violations of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments for juvenile offenders illegally sentenced to life without parole?

Does the holding in *In re Kirchner, supra*, which represents a split of authority within the Fourth District Court of Appeal since their holding in *In*

re Berg (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 418¹, also create a split of authority in light of People v. Lozano (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 1126?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 28, 1993, Mr. Kirchner, age 16, and Mr. Damien Miller, age 15, robbed a gun store in Vista, owned by Ross Elvey. Once inside the store, Mr. Kirchner hit 59-year-old Mr. Elvey with a metal pipe causing severe trauma that ultimately resulted in Mr. Elvey's death 40 days later. (Clerk's Transcript (C.T.) pp. 90-94.)

Mr. Kirchner was initially charged in juvenile court. (C.T. pp. 85-87.) At a hearing under Welfare and Institutions Code section 707, Mr. Kirchner presented evidence he had no prior criminal record, grew up in an abusive household and in a neighborhood riddled with gang violence. Additionally, Mr. Kirchner suffered several head injuries as a child and was the victim of several violent attacks in his gang-ridden neighborhood. Further, Mr. Kirchner suffered from Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) and depression. His depression was severe and led him to attempt suicide at age 14 and again at age 16. (C.T. pp. 89-110.) The juvenile court, however, found Mr. Kirchner unfit to be prosecuted as a juvenile and he was charged as an adult. (C.T. p. 112.)

On October 26, 1993, an Information was filed in Superior Court alleging murder in the first degree, California Penal Code section 187, subd.

(a)², with allegations he personally used a deadly weapon (Pen. Code §

¹ The split of authority is a fairly included issue since it occured after the petition for review was submitted. (Cal. Rule of Court 8.520.)

² All references are to the California Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

12022, subd. (b)), and committed murder during the commission of a burglary and robbery (Pen. Code § 190.2, subd. (a)(17)). He was also charged with robbery, (Pen. Code § 211), with allegations of personal use of a deadly weapon (Pen. Code § 12022, subd. (b)) and personal infliction of great bodily injury (Pen. Code § 12022.7). A third count alleged he committed burglary (Pen. Code § 459), with allegations of personal use of a deadly weapon (Pen. Code § 12022, subd. (b)) and personal infliction of great bodily injury (Pen. Code § 12022.7). Lastly, the Information alleged Mr. Kirchner commited assault with a firearm (Pen. Code § 245, subd. (a)(2)) with an allegation of personal use of a handgun (Pen. Code § 12022.5). (C.T. pp. 114-116.)

During a bench trial, Mr. Kirchner moved to strike the special circumstance allegation that he committed the murder while engaged in the commission of a robbery and burglary (Pen. Code § 190.2, subd. (a)(17)). Mr. Kirchner argued the imposition of the sentence of life without the possibility of parole that he faced under Penal Code section 190.5 would constitute a violation of the United States Constitution's Eighth Amendment. The court denied this motion, agreeing with the prosecution that since death sentences were constitutionally permissible for 16- and 17-year-olds, a juvenile life without parole sentence is also permissible.

On March 10, 1994, Mr. Kirchner was found guilty of one count of first degree murder (Pen. Code, § 187, subd. (a)) and the special circumstance allegation that he committed the murder while engaged in the commission of a robbery and burglary (Pen. Code, § 190.2, subd. (a)(17)(A), (G)), and that he personally used a deadly or dangerous weapon during the commission of the murder (Pen. Code, § 12022, subd. (b)). Mr. Kirchner was also convicted

of one count of robbery (Pen. Code, § 211) and one count of burglary (Pen. Code, § 459), with allegations as to each offense that he personally inflicted great bodily injury (Pen. Code, § 12022.7) and personally used a deadly or dangerous weapon (Pen. Code, § 12022, subd. (b)). (C.T. pp. 237-239.)

The trial court remanded Mr. Kirchner to the California Youth Authority (CYA) pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 707.2 in order to determine his amenability to the training and treatment offered by that agency. While there, he was evaluated by members of the interdisciplinary team, including a psychologist. Their reports described Mr. Kirchner as unsophisticated, vulnerable to peer influences, and likely to have his criminal behavior exacerbated if he were sentenced to adult prison. The CYA concluded there was a reasonable probability that Mr. Kirchner's likelihood to commit further crimes could be reduced or eliminated within the available confinement time if sentenced as a juvenile. (C.T. pp. 243-259.)

Citing the nature of the offense, the trial court declined to follow the recommendation of the CYA and, on September 15, 1994, sentenced Mr. Kirchner to life without parole for the murder conviction, plus a consecutive year for the weapon enhancement. The court stayed sentencing on the remaining counts and attendant allegations pursuant to Penal Code section 654. (C.T. pp. 66-67.) Mr. Kirchner filed a notice of appeal, but his appeal was dismissed after an opening brief was not filed on his behalf. (C.T. p. 261-262.)

In 2013, after the Supreme Court decided *Miller*, Mr. Kirchner filed a writ of habeas corpus that was denied. The denial preceded this Court's decision in *Gutierrez*.

Mr. Kirchner filed a second writ of habeas corpus in October 2014 contending his sentence violated the Eighth Amendment as defined by *Miller* and *Gutierrez*. On March 27, 2015, the superior court granted Mr. Kirchner's petition and the district attorney appealed.

On June 29, 2015, the district attorney filed their opening brief and reiterated that the holdings in *Miller/Gutierrez* did not apply retroactively to a collateral attack on the sentence imposed. On July 28, 2015, Mr. Kirchner filed a response, arguing that the U.S. Supreme Court and California Supreme Court's rulings in *Miller/Gutierrez* dictated a substantive rule that should be applied on collateral review. On October 29, 2015, the court of appeal requested additional briefing regarding whether California courts have traditionally used the rules laid out by *Teague v. Lane* (1989) 489 U.S. 288 and *Schriro v. Summerlin* (2004) 542 U.S. 348 to determine whether to grant collateral review. Both parties answered this question in the affirmative.

At oral argument on December 16, 2015, the court of appeal asked whether Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) presented an adequate remedy at law. They pondered whether requiring juveniles to seek relief via Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) would ensure the re-sentencing court considered the defendant's post-sentence conduct in prison.

On January 25, 2016, the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Montgomery v. Louisiana* (2016) ___U.S.___ [136 S.Ct. 718] (*Montgomery*), holding that their decision in *Miller* applies retroactively. On January 26, 2016, the court of appeal requested letter briefing regarding the effect of *Montgomery* on the issues in the case. The court specifically asked the parties to address Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) and the language from *Montgomery*

referencing the Wyoming statute that converts juvenile life without parole sentences to life with parole at 25 years without a re-sentencing hearing. Mr. Kirchner submitted a letter brief on February 1, 2016, arguing Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) did not present an adequate remedy at law.

On February 23, 2016, the court of appeal issued a published decision, reversing the grant of Mr. Kirchner's habeas petition with directions that Mr. Kirchner, and any other juvenile illegally sentenced to life without parole who has served 15 years of his sentence, must seek relief via Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2).

On April 4, 2016, Mr. Kirchner petitioned this Court for review. Review was granted on May 18, 2016.

ARGUMENT

California has approximately 300 juvenile offenders serving an illegal sentence of life without parole. These juveniles were sentenced under a presumption of life without parole and without consideration of the *Miller* factors. The U.S. Supreme Court has declared these illegally sentenced juveniles are entitled to collateral review. (*Montgomery v. Louisiana, supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 735.) "...[W]hen a new substantive rule of constitutional law controls the outcome of a case, the Constitution requires state collateral review courts to give retroactive effect to that rule." (*Id.* at p. 729.) Because the holdings in *Miller* and *Roper* reaffirm that sentencing a child to life without parole is excessive and unconstitutional for all but the rare juvenile offender, *Miller* announced a new substantive rule. (*Id.* at pp. 733-734.) The

³ See Appendix A where approximately six offenders out of 289 provided by CDCR received an LWOP sentence after this court decided *Gutierrez*.

superior court correctly determined Mr. Kirchner is serving an illegal sentence and granted habeas relief.

As this Court held, Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is not an adequate remedy for juvenile offenders illegally sentenced to life without parole and it should not be their only means of seeking a legal sentence. (People v. Gutierrez, supra, 58 Cal.4th at 1387, People v. Lozano, supra, 243 Cal.App.4th at 1138, In re Berg, supra, 247 Cal.App.4th at 436.) Requiring a select group of offenders to seek relief via Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) violates their constitutional rights to be free from cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth Amendment and their rights to due process and equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment.

I.

PENAL CODE SECTION 1170, SUBDIVISION (d)(2) DOES NOT PROVIDE AN ADEQUATE REMEDY FOR THE CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS OF MILLER/GUTIERREZ

In *Montgomery*, the U.S. Supreme Court held the ruling in *Miller* applies retroactively. (*Montgomery*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 736.) "*Miller*'s conclusion that the sentence of life without parole is disproportionate for the vast majority of juvenile offenders raises a grave risk that many are being held in violation of the Constitution." (*Ibid.*) *In re Kirchner* distorted the holding of *Montgomery* when it stated a "...process by which the defendant is given a fair opportunity to be considered for parole," would satisfy *Miller*. (*In re Kirchner*, *supra*, 244 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1413-1414.) In a recent split of authority, the *Berg* court observed "...section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) affords many defendants sentenced to LWOP in violation of *Miller none* of

the rights set forth in *Miller* and *Montgomery*..." (*In re Berg*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at p. 439.) Because Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does not satisfy the constitutional requirements set out in *Miller/Gutierrez/Montgomery*, the Fourth District Court of Appeal's ruling fails to correct Mr. Kirchner's illegal sentence.

A. Gutierrez Correctly Held that Penal Code Section 1170, Subdivision (d)(2) Is Not a Constitutional Remedy for Juveniles Illegally Sentenced to LWOP.

This Court expressly rejected Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) as a constitutional remedy. (*Gutierrez*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1387.) *Gutierrez* properly examined Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) and found it did not satisfy *Miller*. (*Ibid*.) Although Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) provides a *potential* mechanism for re-sentencing after serving 15 to 24 years, the convicted still has an effective sentence of life without the possibility of parole. (*Id.* at p. 1386.)⁴ Ultimately *Gutierrez* held:

In sum, construing section 190.5(b) to establish a presumption in favor of life without parole raises serious constitutional concerns under the reasoning of *Miller* and the body of precedent on which *Miller* relied. The recent enactment of section Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does not eliminate those concerns.

(Id. at p. 1387, emphasis added.)

The *Kirchner* court defied this Court's invalidation of Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2), opining the *Gutierrez* court was only

⁴ Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2), presents an option to a select group of *legally* sentenced juveniles who are determined to be "incorrigible" after a proper *Miller/Gutierrez* sentencing hearing. (*In re Berg*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at 442.)

concerned with the, "...strictly prospective focus of the courts in *Gutierrez* and *Graham...*" (*In re Kirchner*, *supra*, 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 1419.) But, the holding in *Gutierrez* does not draw a distinction between direct appeal and collateral review cases. Instead, *Gutierrez* details why Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) fails to address the juveniles' unconstitutional sentences. (*In re Berg*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at p. 442.) "Thus, the *Kirchner* court's conclusion that section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) *does* provide an adequate remedy for a *Miller* violation conflicts with *Gutierrez*." (*Ibid.*)

The *Kirchner* court's focus on the admissibility of post-conviction conduct at a *Miller* resentencing hearing was unneccesary. Addressing *Montgomery*'s dissent (specifically the potential difficulty of conducting sentencing hearings after decades have passed), the court opined, "Arguably, in the absence of mandatory resort to section 1170, subdivision (d)(2), a defendant whose post-conviction conduct would not warrant an opportunity for parole would nonetheless be entitled to a new sentence upon a showing that at the time of his or her original sentencing there had been no proof of his or her incorrigibility." (*In re Kirchner*, *supra*, 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 1417.) The *Kirchner* court's desire to permit post-conviction conduct during re-sentencing caused it to ignore controlling case law. (*Id.* at p. 1417.)

However, the *Kirchner* court's concerns are unfounded because controlling case law already permits the admissibility of post-sentence behavior at *Miller* re-sentencing hearings. "... [T]here is nothing in *Miller*, *Gutierrez*, or *Montgomery* that suggests, much less states, that a trial court is *precluded* from considering evidence of a defendant's postconviction conduct

in conducting a resentencing as a remedy for *Miller* error." (*In re Berg*, supra, 247 Cal.App.4th at p. 440.) "Gutierrez effectively disposes of this contention in its recognition that amenability to rehabilitation must be considered at sentencing before imposition of an LWOP sentence." (*Id.* at p. 441, citing Gutierrez, supra, 58 Cal.4th at pp. 1386–1387 and People v. Lozano, supra, 243 Cal.App.4th at p. 1138, emphasis added.) Montgomery reiterated this position by considering the petitioner's evolution from a troubled, misguided youth to a model member of the prison community—the petitioner's submissions demonstrated rehabilitation. (Montgomery, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 736.)

At a *Miller* resentencing hearing, unlike a Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) petition, rehabilitation evidence is not the overriding factor in determining whether an offender should be resentenced to life with parole, but it can still be considered by the trial court. (*Miller*, *supra*, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (slip.op., at p. 10), quoting *Graham*, *supra*, at p. 74; *Gutierrez*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4th at pp. 1388-1389.) However, a juvenile offender's failure to rehabilitate while serving a sentence with no hope of release cannot retroactively justify imposition of the sentence, because the sentence was still disproportionate at the outset. (*People v. Gutierrez*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1386, citing *Graham*, *supra*, 560 U.S. at p. 73.) Thus, the *Kirchner* court's concern that Mr. Kirchner's subsequent conduct in prison would not be considered by the courts at a re-sentencing hearing is misguided and violates the spirit of *Miller* because it places too much emphasis on post-conviction conduct.

B. Unlike the Wyoming statute and Penal Code 3051, Penal Code Section 1170, Subdivision (d)(2) Does Not Supply An Adequate Remedy.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal relied upon dicta from the *Montgomery* Court that referenced a Wyoming statute that legally changes a juvenile's sentence from life without parole to life with parole at 25 years. (Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 6-10-301(c).). The Wyoming Supreme Court held in *State v. Mares* 2014 WY 126 that defendant's life without parole sentence was, as a matter of law, converted to life with the possibility of parole in 25 years. All juveniles serving life without parole in Wyoming were now eligible for parole at 25 years. In contrast, the potential relief provided by Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is not automatic and thus (unlike the Wyoming statute) does not cure the constitutional infirmity for all offenders serving illegal life without parole sentences.

This Court recently held Penal Code section 3051, like Wyoming's statute, had a similar effect on a juvenile sentenced to 50 to life. In *People v. Franklin* (May 26, 2016, No. S217699) 2016 LEXIS 3592, this Court held "the Legislature has effected this change by operation of law, with no additional resentencing procedure required." (*Id.* at p.*25.) When *Franklin* relied on *Gutierrez*'s rejection of Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) as an argument for why Penal Code section 3051 did not satisfy the constitutional requirements of *Miller* and *Caballero*, this Court pointed out the crucial differences in the statutes and the many hurdles that a juvenile offender faces when seeking resentencing pursuant to Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2). (*Id.* at p.*30.)

Gutierrez was sentenced under a scheme that presumed his incorrigibility "at the outset," and the resulting sentence

would remain in effect unless and until he filed a successful petition for recall. (*Gutierrez*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1386–1387; see *id*. at p. 1386 ["A sentence of life without parole under section 190.5(b) remains *fully effective* after the enactment of section 1170(d)(2)."].) Franklin is not subject to a sentence that presumes his incorrigibility; by operation of law, he is entitled to a parole hearing and possible release after 25 years of incarceration.

(*Id.* at pp.*31-32.)

Further, the Wyoming statute and Penal Code section 3051 were passed in response to *Miller* and other relevant juvenile caselaw in an attempt to correct illegal sentences of juveniles. The same cannot be said for Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2). Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) was proposed to the legislature in December of 2010. A review of the legislative history demonstrates that it was not, nor could it possibly have been, submitted as a remedy to the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Miller* or *Montgomery*. As the court in *Berg* correctly pointed out, there is nothing in the text of Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) referencing the Legislature's intent to remedy *Miller* error. (*In re Berg*, *supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at p. 441.)

Montgomery makes clear that petitioners like Mr. Kirchner are entitled to habeas corpus relief. Anything short of converting Mr. Kirchner's illegal

⁵ (See 2013 Wy. HB 23, and

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=201320140SB260 [as of June 15, 2016].)

⁶ (See

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billAnalysisClient.xhtml?bill_id=201120120SB9 [as of June 15, 2016] .)

life without parole sentence to life with parole at 25 years cannot stand as a constitutionally sound substitute.

C. Penal Code Section 1170, Subdivision (d)(2) Places an Unconstitutional Burden on Offenders to Obtain Their Miller Rights, Violating Their Right to be Free from Cruel and Unusual Punishment Under the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.

A thorough analysis of Penal Code section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) shows that it cannot satisfy the Eighth Amendment constitutional requirements of *Miller/Montgomery/Gutierrez*. The *Kirchner* court's assertion that "the People bear the burden" at any hearing is contrary to the plain language of the statute; and the court's analysis violated the rules of statutory construction. (*In re Kirchner, supra*, 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 1418; *People v. Canty* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, *In re Berg, supra*, 247 Cal.App.4th at p. 442.)

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