COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S233508

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 9 2016

In re KRISTOPHER KIRCHNER on Habeas Corpus

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Appeal from the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D067920 Superior Court of San Diego County, Case Nos. HC21804, CRN26291 The Honorable Louis R. Hanoian, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BONNIE M. DUMANIS District Attorney JAMES E. ATKINS Deputy District Attorney Chief, Appellate & Training Division JENNIFER KAPLAN, SBN 240602 Deputy District Attorney 330 W. Broadway, Suite 860 San Diego, CA 92101

Tel: (619) 531-3798

Fax: (619) 515-8632

Email: jennifer.kaplan@sdcda.org

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

Where a habeas petitioner has an adequate remedy at law, he must exhaust it before seeking habeas relief. (*In re Gandolfo* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 889, 899-900.)

Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) provides relief to defendants previously sentenced as juveniles to LWOP. Petitions for recall and resentence may be filed after serving 15 years of an LWOP term. (§ 1170, subd. (d)(2).) Even if a defendant's initial petition is denied, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) gives LWOP defendants multiple chances at parole because it allows them to petition at the 15th, 20th, and 24th years of their

incarceration. (§ 1170, subd. (d)(2)(H).)

All LWOP defendants who were sentenced as juveniles were convicted of special circumstances murder. That crime carries a minimum sentence of 25 years to life. (§ 190.5, subd. (b).) Those who are determined to have been transiently immature and are resentenced under section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) will have a parole hearing at the 25th year of their incarceration. (§ 3051.) Thus, the relief under section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is obtained before the first available parole hearing.

Kirchner argues, "Anything short of converting Mr. Kirchner's illegal life without parole sentence to life with parole at 25 years cannot stand as a constitutionally sound substitute." He claims section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is an inadequate remedy because, unlike the Wyoming statute cited in *Montgomery*, it does not automatically bestow a parole hearing upon every defendant serving LWOP. (AOB 13-14.) Although section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does not automatically convert an LWOP sentence into a life-with-parole sentence for all defendants, it provides them with all the rights demanded by *Miller* and *Montgomery*. A parole hearing is granted once a sentencing court determines that the defendant murdered as a result of transient immaturity. That determination is made through section 1170, subdivision (d)(2). In fact, the statute gives defendants successive opportunities to show they "have since matured," as *Montgomery* requires for collateral case review. (Montgomery, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 736.) Kirchner is currently eligible to petition for relief under section 1170. subdivision (d)(2). He has chosen not to do so.

As required by *Montgomery*, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) affords a defendant an "opportunity for release." (*Montgomery*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 736.) The statute outlines various factors a sentencing court may consider to determine whether to recall and resentence. (§ 1170, subd.

(d)(2)(F)(i)-(viii).) But, crucially, the sentencing court is not limited to the statute's enumerated factors. (§ 1170, subd. (d)(2)(F).) In fact, it "may consider any other criteria that the court deems relevant to its decision" (§ 1170, subd. (d)(2)(I).) Such criteria, even if deemed not already covered by the statute's factors, will include the *Miller* factors. Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is the appropriate remedy in collateral cases because it allows a sentencing court to "examine not just the factors existing at the time of the crime, that is, those factors related to the defendant's status as a juvenile, but also the factors relating to the defendant's postconviction conduct and rehabilitation." (*Kirchner*, *supra*, 244 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1416-1417.) In collateral cases, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) measures whether a defendant who killed long ago was capable of reform; it provides him relief, so he is not "mandated [to] die in prison." (*Miller*, *supra*, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2460.)

B. The Truth of *Miller*'s Central Intuition, that Juveniles Who Commit the Most Heinous Crimes are Capable of Change, is Measured by Postconviction Conduct, Codified in Section 1170, Subdivision (d)(2)

Montgomery provides that, under Miller and on collateral review, postconviction conduct must be measured to determine whether a defendant has, in fact, rehabilitated. (Montgomery, supra, 136 S.Ct. at p. 736.)

Evaluation of postconviction conduct fulfills Miller's demand for a meaningful opportunity for release. Specifically, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) gives reformed defendants a resentencing hearing. It is also important to underscore that the defendants sentenced as juveniles to LWOP who are eligible for collateral relief are a limited group. Approximately 130 currently fall within the parameters of section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) relief. Approximately 100 have not yet reached the 15-year mark. About 35-50 have already had their cases resolved on direct review following Miller. (AOB, Appendix A.)

Today's sentencing court cannot turn back time and, for instance, invent a non-existent psychological evaluation of a then-16-year-old Kirchner. The court is limited by the passage of time. The retroactive application of *Miller* does not necessarily demand that collateral cases have the exact same remedy as those on direct appeal. It is impossible to recreate the 16- or 17-year-old defendant at this late stage. What *Montgomery* demands is that all the rights of *Miller* be fulfilled, whatever the method. In collateral cases, the time frame of "at the outset" has long since passed. But the sentencing court now has an advantage: instead of imprecisely *predicting* whether a defendant will rehabilitate, the court has *actual* evidence of rehabilitation or continued depravity.

Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) embodies, fulfills, and standardizes this advantage. In collateral cases, the presence or lack of maturity can be measured best by postconviction conduct. *Montgomery*'s use of the phrase "have since matured" demands an analysis of the defendant's behavior since the murder. A determination of whether one has "since matured" requires a look at prison behavior to evaluate and understand whether the murder was a product of the presumptive transient immaturity or, instead, irreparable corruption.

Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) avoids the fiction of resentencing a 39-year-old prisoner like Kirchner as though the two-plus decades of postconviction behavior do not exist. After all, Kirchner has lived more years since he murdered Ross Elvey than before the murder. Because section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) measures actual maturity and rehabilitation, it complies with *Montgomery's* mandate that states resolve *Miller* error on collateral review by answering one question: does the prisoner have an opportunity to demonstrate an ability to reform? (*Montgomery*, *supra*, 136 S.Ct. at p. 736.)

In sum, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does not ignore a juvenile's capacity to mature. It measures it. The numerous factors in the statute standardize how courts should remedy *Miller* error in collateral cases. Because section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) relief depends on whether the defendant "has since matured," it is an adequate statutory remedy for *Miller* error in collateral cases.

C. Section 1170, Subdivision (d)(2) Provides a Mechanism for Uniform Application of *Miller* Rights

As noted by Justice Benke in the *Kirchner* opinion, if section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is deemed to be an inadequate remedy, then a defendant can select whether to utilize a section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) petition or a habeas corpus petition. (Kirchner, supra, 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 1417.) Allowing the defendant to choose would potentially subvert justice. A prisoner who has behaved poorly in prison will choose to file a habeas petition rather than a section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) petition in order to eliminate negative postconviction evidence. With that discretion left to the defendant, a prisoner who has not reformed—and thus whose crime reflects irreparable corruption—might nonetheless be resentenced to 25 years to life if he simply shows that at the time of his original sentencing there was no proof of his incorrigibility. Meanwhile, a prisoner who has behaved well in prison will opt for the much simpler section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) petition, because it permits a court to consider his positive postconviction conduct. (*Ibid.*) This inconsistency will erode the internal integrity necessary to fair and consistent proceedings. (*Ibid.*) Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) codifies the admissibility of postconviction conduct, whether demonstrative of reform or corruption.

A system that allows a defendant to select his own method of relief—rather than a mandatory resort to section 1170, subdivision (d)(2)—

leads to "mischief," as the Court of Appeal put it. (*Kirchner*, *supra*, 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 1417.) Indeed, without section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) some resentencing courts will admit postconviction conduct and some will not, depending on their interpretation of *Miller*.³ This inconsistency would erode the internal integrity necessary to fair proceedings. (*Ibid.*) It would also lead to sentences that do not accurately reflect whether the defendant was one who had been capable of change or is irreparably corrupt.

Further, Kirchner claims that, in a post-habeas *Miller* resentencing hearing, "rehabilitation evidence is not the overriding factor in determining whether an offender should be resentenced to life with parole, but it can still be considered by the trial court." He complains that a section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) resentencing hearing violates *Miller* "because it places too much emphasis on postconviction conduct." (AOB 11.) It is unclear how an emphasis on rehabilitation evidence violates *Miller*. But the point of the statutory solution sanctioned by *Montgomery* is that postconviction conduct is the measure of *Miller*'s central intuition that juveniles can change. A 20-year-old sentence cannot now be recreated "at the outset" with the same accuracy as a prospective sentence; evidence surrounding the circumstances of the 16- or 17-year-old juvenile's offense is often unavailable, stale, or incomplete. A resentencing court today cannot truly

³ In *People v. Lozano* (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 1126 (*Lozano*), a case that pre-dated *Montgomery*, a resentencing court excluded postconviction conduct because it interpreted *Miller* and *Gutierrez* as requiring it "'to go back in time' and sentence Lozano as the facts existed at the time of the original sentencing hearing in 1996." (*Lozano*, *supra*, 243 Cal.App.4th at p. 1132.) The Fifth Division of the Second District Court of Appeal held that "all relevant evidence of amenability to rehabilitation must be considered at a sentencing hearing." (*Id.* at p. 1138.) This rule applies where the defendant brings forth evidence tending to show rehabilitation. It remains open to interpretation whether the People can proffer evidence tending to show irreparable corruption.

assess whether, 20 years ago, a defendant was immature, impetuous, suffered from familial pressure, or was incapable of assisting his own attorneys. Any attempt to recreate the "at the outset" time frame would result in an unsupportable legal fiction. In collateral cases, there is one *Miller* factor that *can* accurately be measured: "the possibility of rehabilitation." (*Miller*, *supra*, 132 S.Ct. at p. 2468.) And the way to measure it is to look at evidence of *actual* rehabilitation. That is exactly what section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does.

Of course, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does more than just measure rehabilitation. Its other factors are related to the defendant's status as a juvenile. (§ 1170, subds. (d)(2)(B)(i)-(iii), (d)(2)(F)(i)-(v), (d)(2)(I).) Furthermore, all *Miller* factors may be considered by a court deciding a section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) petition. As the statute's language states, the court is "not limited to" the enumerated factors and "may consider any other criteria that the court deems relevant" (§ 1170, subds. (d)(2)(F), (d)(2)(I).)

Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2), then, is not just an adequate remedy but also the fairest and most logical one. It is unfair and illogical to both parties to return a 39-year-old defendant to the same status as existed on the day of the original sentencing two decades ago. Both parties benefit from a rounded, truthful, fully-informed hearing. A defendant, now years into his prison sentence, will be assessed under the standardized factors provided by section 1170, subdivision (d)(2). If he has reformed, he will be resentenced. If he has not, he still has the opportunity to demonstrate change over the 10-year course of the petition process.

Kirchner claims that section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) makes it "all but certain that many defendants would be required to continue to serve LWOP sentences without *any* sentencing court ever having considered

whether such defendants were the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption." (AOB 15, quoting *People v. Berg* (2016) 247 Cal.App.4th 418, 437, review granted July 27, 2016, S235277, internal quotes omitted, italics in original.) But, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) does *exactly that*: it forces a sentencing court to determine whether the accrual of evidence over time demonstrates the defendant was capable of change or is irreparably corrupt.

II.

Gutierrez Does Not Foreclose Collateral Relief by Section 1170, Subdivision (d)(2), Because It Applies the Statute Only Prospectively

There remain two categories of juveniles affected by Miller and Montgomery: (1) those who have yet to be sentenced, and (2) those whose cases are final and who seek collateral relief, like Kirchner. *Montgomery* exists because there were two separate categories. And *Montgomery* held while the second category of juveniles is entitled to relief, the form of relief may be different from that of the first category of juveniles. (Montgomery, supra,136 S.Ct. at p. 736.) Gutierrez held that, from Miller forward, no future juvenile special circumstances murderer could be sentenced to LWOP without a *Miller* analysis accounting for his potential to rehabilitate. But it was not until *Montgomery* that the question of "continued" confinement" was taken up—the question asked on collateral review. (Kirchner, supra, 244 Cal.App.4th at p. 1419, italics in original.) It makes sense that in this context, *Montgomery* recognized that demonstrated rehabilitation is the litmus test of whether a presently mature prisoner must have been merely transiently immature at age 17 when he murdered his victim.

Kirchner overstates the holding of *Gutierrez*. He claims the court held section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) is not a constitutional remedy—

prospective or retrospective—for juveniles illegally sentenced to LWOP. But that baselessly broadens the court's holding.

As the Court of Appeal in Kirchner correctly pointed out, Gutierrez arose on direct appeal, rather than collateral review. The question before the Gutierrez court was whether, going forward, the presumptive LWOP interpretation of section 190.5, subdivision (b) violates Miller; and, whether, going forward, section 190.5, subdivision (b) sentences were even subject to Miller in the first place. The Attorney General in Gutierrez had argued the sentences were not subject to Miller because section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) "converted" the sentences to life with parole sentences. The court in *Gutierrez* rejected that argument. *Gutierrez* found that section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) did not moot constitutional concern where a defendant was sentenced under a presumptive LWOP scheme at the outset. Going forward in California, a sentencing court cannot continue to sentence juvenile special circumstance murderers to LWOP without consideration of Miller factors by simply justifying that they may get a resentencing hearing in 15 years. At the outset, they would still be receiving the unconstitutional sentence. (Gutierrez, supra, 58 Cal.4th at pp. 1386-1387.)

But in the instant case, the People do not argue that section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) removes the defendants from the ambit of *Miller*. Instead, section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) remedies cases on collateral review by accurately providing a retrospective measure of a defendant's capability to change. Neither *Miller* nor *Gutierrez* addressed the remedy for defendants who were sentenced years ago. *Montgomery* did. *Montgomery* sensibly sanctions evidence of rehabilitation to determine, retrospectively, whether the defendant was indeed capable of change so long ago. Section 1170, subdivision (d)(2) measures that evidence in standardized form. As the Court of Appeal in *Kirchner* stated,

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